1970

W. Smoot Brimhall, Commissioner Of Financial Institutions of the State of Utah v. D. Spencer Grow; Arta L. Grow; Steven L. Grow; First Fidelity Thrift And Low Association; Western Land Corporation; Grow Investment And Mortgage Company, Town And Country Real Estate Company : Appellant's Brief

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an action to set aside conveyances of real property. In March of 1967 D. Spencer Grow and Arta L. Grow, his wife, conveyed one parcel of real property to their son Steven L. Grow and conveyed two parcels of real property to their son Steven and their daughter Gina M. Grow. Gina is not a party to this action. During the period September, 1966, through March, 1967, the three defendant corporations conveyed five parcels of real property to Steven L. Grow.

At no time, either prior or subsequent to said conveyances, have any of the grantors, individual or corporate, been adjudicated a bankrupt or entered into an assignment or composition for the benefit of creditors. Nevertheless, this action is brought by plaintiff alleging unmatured tort claims against the individual grantors and unsatisfied deficiency judgments against the corporate grantors. The deficiency judgments were entered after the dates of the conveyances sought to be set aside.

The present action is best understood in context with two other cases now pending in lower courts. One of the lower court actions, entitled "In the Matter of the Liquidation and Suspension of Utah Savings & Loan Association" (herein designated "liquidation proceedings") was filed by plaintiff in November, 1966 in the District Court in and for Utah County, State of Utah, Civil No. 30,309. In this action liquidation of the said Utah Savings & Loan Association is currently in process and losses, if any, to be sustained by depositors or shareholders have not yet been ascertained.

The other lower court action (herein designated "officer and director liability proceeding") was filed by plaintiff in the District Court in and for Utah County, State of Utah, Civil No. 32,027, in May, 1968 against numerous defendants including, among others, all of the grantor defendants in the present action. This second action seeks to impose liability upon the personal and corporate defendants for certain losses, not yet ascertained or determined, allegedly sustained or to be sustained by Utah Savings & Loan Association. The lower court, contem-

plating trial of the matter would be held in the summer of 1968, entered a preliminary injunction in this second action preventing disposition by the defendants of their properties and assets. Thereafter the case was removed to the District Court in and for Salt Lake County, and assigned Civil No. 181,123, where the case is still awaiting trial.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The present action was tried at Provo, Utah in June, 1969 before Hon. Ferdinand Erickson who was invited specially from the Sixth Judicial District to try the case due to the disqualification of all other judges in the Fourth District from hearing the matter. Upon trial the court found in favor of plaintiff, ordered the conveyances set aside, and directed that the reconveyed properties be sold in satisfaction of certain deficiency judgments in favor of plaintiff resulting from mortgage foreclosure proceedings in other actions. Defendants appeal from the judgment of the lower court.

RELIEF ON APPEAL

Appellants seek a reversal of the judgment entered by the lower court and an order remanding the case with direction that appellants' Motion for Summary Judgment be granted. In the alternative, the case should be remanded to the lower court for further hearing to determine the equitable interest of Steven L. Grow in the subject properties.

STATEMENT OF POINTS RELIED UPON

- I. Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment should have been granted because plaintiff failed to meet the required burden of proof.
 - A. Plaintiff offered no evidence to support many allegations of plaintiff's complaint.
 - B. Plaintiff offered no proof the properties conveyed had value at the time of such conveyances.
 - C. Plaintiff failed to meet the burden of proof required by the Uniform Fraudulent Conveyances Act.
 1. Plaintiff offered no proof of insolvency of the individual grantors.
 2. The sole evidence intended to prove insolvency of the corporate defendants was improperly admitted in evidence and legally ineffective for its intended purpose.
 3. No presumption of fraudulent conveyance arose.
- II. Defendants' evidence showed the conveyances were made for fair consideration.
- III. The relief granted exceeds that prayed in the complaint and authorized by law.

ARGUMENT

I. DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT SHOULD HAVE BEEN GRANTED BECAUSE PLAINTIFF FAILED TO MEET THE REQUIRED BURDEN OF PROOF.

Defendants' motion for summary judgment, made when plaintiff rested its case, (See Transcript, page 40,

line 28 *et seq.*), was taken under advisement but was subsequently denied by the court. Only the first 40 pages of the trial transcript representing the plaintiff's case need be considered in determining the merits of defendants' motion.

A. *Plaintiff offered no evidence to support many allegations of the complaint before resting its case.*

In addition to alleging the fact of the conveyances, which fact is not disputed, plaintiff's complaint alleges:

1. That ". . . D. Spencer Grow was president controlling managing agent of . . . [the corporate defendants]." (Complaint, paragraph 2)

COMMENT: Prior to resting its case, no evidence was offered by plaintiff showing any relationship whatsoever between the personal defendants and the corporate defendants.

2. That the grantors ". . . do not have sufficient property with which to satisfy the debts which they owe to the plaintiff in his control of the business and assets of Utah Savings & Loan Association." (Complaint, paragraph 10)

COMMENT: This fails to allege insolvency of the grantors *at the time of the subject conveyances* or by reason thereof. Further, before resting its case plaintiff offered no direct evidence showing the financial condition of the grantors at any time. To prove insolvency of the corporate

defendants, plaintiff relied solely upon a presumption of insolvency claimed to arise from return of executions unsatisfied, as discussed hereafter. Any presumption of insolvency raised by return of executions unsatisfied is limited to the corporate defendants only, since no judgments have been entered against the personal defendants. Plaintiff *did* provide evidence that defendants have substantial property holdings, however, as indicated by the legal descriptions of 561 separate parcels of real property attached as an exhibit to the amended complaint filed in the officer and director liability proceeding, a copy of which was admitted in evidence herein as Exhibit P-11.

3. "The property affected by the deeds was acquired by the defendants under the direction and control of the defendant D. Spencer Grow with monies borrowed from Utah Savings & Loan Association while Utah Savings & Loan Association was under the management and control of the defendant D. Spencer Grow." (Complaint, paragraph 11).

COMMENT: No evidence was offered by plaintiff showing the circumstances under which the subject property was acquired by the defendants.

4. "The aforesaid conveyances were wholly voluntary and made without a valuable consideration." (Complaint, paragraph 12).

COMMENT: No evidence was submitted in support of this allegation.

5. "At the time of the execution of the aforesaid deeds, said Steven L. Grow, grantee therein, had full knowledge of the fraudulent intent and purpose of the defendant, D. Spencer Grow." (Complaint, paragraph 13).

COMMENT: When plaintiff rested its case, no evidence had been offered by plaintiff in support of the allegation that actual fraudulent intent was involved, nor was evidence offered by plaintiff showing the knowledge of Steven L. Grow with respect to any matter whatsoever covered by this action.

B. Plaintiff offered no proof the properties conveyed had value at the time of such conveyances.

Counsel for plaintiff acknowledged at trial plaintiff's obligation to furnish evidence that the property conveyed had a net value, and cited the case of *Zuniga v. Evans*, 87 Utah 198, 48 P.2d 513 (1935) in support thereof. (See Transcript, page 19, lines 8-10). The grantors' net equity in the subject properties could not be proved without evidence of and adjustments from the gross value for the amount of mortgages, tax delinquencies or other encumbrances against such properties. Plaintiff then produced an abstractor, Mr. Madsen, and it was stipulated that he had searched title of the properties *as of June 6, 1969 at 8:00 a.m.* and that his proffered testimony

concerning recorded encumbrances would not include evidence of any search with respect to delinquent taxes, special improvements or other levies. (See Transcript, pages 21-24).

The proffered and stipulated testimony of gross values of the conveyed properties and partial testimony concerning some encumbrances against the properties constituted incomplete evidence which failed to provide proper proof that the properties had any net value attributable to the grantors—even as of the time of trial. Even more important, however, is that all of the conveyances took place at least 21 months prior to the time of trial and not a scintilla of evidence was presented with respect to the net values of such properties in the hands of defendants *as of the dates of the respective conveyances*, nor of the value of improvements made between the dates of conveyance and time of trial.

Accordingly, plaintiff failed to meet an essential element of its required proof which constitutes a fatal defect in plaintiff's effort to establish a *prima facie* case.

C. Plaintiff failed to meet the burden of proof required by the Uniform Fraudulent Conveyances Act.

Plaintiff has not been specific in citing the provisions of the Uniform Fraudulent Conveyances Act (Utah Code Annotated, Sections 25-1-1 *et. seq.*, 1953 *Rplmt. Vol.*, herein designated "UFCA") which it believes to be con-

trolling in this action, and instead quoted at trial from general encyclopedic works on the topic and cited primarily cases decided before Utah enacted the UFCA. A difference of proof is required, depending upon the section regarded as controlling.

At trial (See Transcript, page 4, lines 7-9) plaintiff asserted its case against the individual defendants, D. Spencer Grow and Arta L. Grow to be premised upon Section 25-1-16 (there exists no Section 25-1-17 cited by plaintiff's counsel and the context indicates that Section 25-1-16 was intended). This section does not define the elements of a fraudulent conveyance but merely sets forth alternative remedies. Prerequisite to application of any one remedy is a finding by the court that the conveyance is "fraudulent," which in turn requires that the evidence satisfy the essential elements of proof defined in various other sections of the UFCA. In attempting to discern the foundation upon which plaintiff premises its claim herein, it becomes necessary to survey the possibilities presented under the UFCA.

(a) Under Section 25-1-4 the required proof consists of (a) a conveyance, (b) insolvency at time of or by reason of the conveyance, and (c) absence of fair consideration. A person is insolvent within the meaning of the UFCA: ". . . when the present fair salable value of his assets is less than the amount that will be required to satisfy his probable liability on his existing debts as they become absolute and matured." (Section 25-1-2) Because no evidence was presented by plaintiff at trial showing insolvency of

the individual defendants and because the only evidence of insolvency of the corporate defendants related to plaintiff's reliance upon return of execution unsatisfied, this section is applicable to the plaintiff's case only with respect to conveyances by the corporate grantors and subject to the validity of the arguments concerning nulla bona executions, as discussed hereafter.

(b) No allegations of the complaint or proof offered at trial include the evidentiary provisions required under Sections 25-1-5, 25-1-6, and 25-1-7, pertaining to under capitalization of a business concern or scientor of a grantor about to incur obligations beyond his ability to pay.

(c) Under Section 25-1-8 (cited in plaintiff's post-trial memorandum) the required proof consists of (a) a conveyance and (b) intent to delay, hinder or defraud the creditors. Since plaintiff presented no evidence at trial of actual intent, application of this statute is dependent upon the plaintiff's reliance upon presumed fraudulent intent and a shift in the burden of proof discussed hereafter. This section requires proof that the conveyance substantially prejudices attempts by creditors to receive satisfaction of their claims. It should be noted that this section is unique to Utah law, it is not part of the UFCA as proposed by the National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws, and has been declared by the Utah Supreme Court as merely declaratory of the principles of the common law. *United States v. Late*

Corporation of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints, 5 Utah 538, 18 P. 35 (1888).

(d) Other sections of the UFCA defining fraudulent conveyances relate to facts and circumstances not falling within those presented by the case presently under consideration by the courts.

1. *Plaintiff offered no proof of insolvency of the individual grantors.*

When plaintiff rested its case there was no evidence whatsoever relating to the assets or liabilities of the defendants at the time of the subject conveyances. The comment set forth under paragraph I.A.2. at page 4, *supra.*, is restated and incorporated by this reference. Hence, conveyances by the personal defendants evidenced by Exhibits P1, P2, P6, and P7, are not subject to plaintiff's argument that return of execution unsatisfied is presumptive of insolvency, and the only possible reliance by plaintiff on Sections 25-1-4 or 25-1-8 would be with respect to conveyances by the corporate defendants.

2. *The sole evidence intended to prove insolvency of the corporate defendants was improperly admitted in evidence and legally ineffective for its intended purpose.*

As proof of insolvency of the corporate defendants, plaintiff's sole evidence consisted of certain court files (Exhibit P13) showing deficiency judgments against the said corporate defendants and unsatisfied return of exe-

cution thereon. The records of deficiency judgments as evidence of the insolvency of the corporate defendants were admitted in evidence over the objection of the defendants. (See Transcript, page 11, lines 21-24). Their admission by the court apparently was intended solely to permit their consideration in connection with other proof as to the financial condition of the corporate defendants. (See Transcript, page 11, lines 17-20). No such other proof was presented by plaintiff before resting its case.

At the time of trial defendants pointed out to the court that in each case the judgments represented by the fourteen separate files were all entered and executions thereon issued *after* the dates of the conveyances challenged herein. (See Transcript, page 10, lines 8-20). A table showing the essential data with respect to such executions in relation to the dates of subject conveyances is shown herein as Exhibit "A" to this brief.

Cases construing the UFCA consistently hold that circumstances relative to the grantor's financial condition subsequent to the conveyance are immaterial in determining *prior* solvency. In the case of *T.W.M. Homes, Inc. v. Atherwood Realty & Investment Co.*, 29 Cal. Rptr. 887, 214 Cal. App. 2d 826 (1963), the court held that since insolvency must exist at the time of the conveyance or must result therefrom, subsequent insolvency is not of itself a sufficient foundation for an inference of insolvency at the time of the allegedly fraudulent conveyance. In the case of *Nevers v. Hack*, 138 Ind. 260, 37 N.E. 791 (1894) the court held that insolvency of the debtor at the

time when suit is brought to set aside his conveyance as fraudulent does not raise a presumption that insolvency existed prior to that time. See also *Neubauer v. Cloutier*, 265 Minn. 539, 122 N.W. 2d 623 (1963); *Palestroni v. Jacobs*, 18 N.J. Super 438, 87 A.2d 356 (1952); *In re Liquidmatic Systems, Inc.* 194 F. Supp. 625 (D.S.D. Cal. 1961).

Plaintiff further asserts that return of an unsatisfied execution is evidence of insolvency which is not subject to rebuttal or refutation, and cites as authority for this position the cases of *Enright v. Grant*, 5 Utah 334, 15 P. 268 (1887) and *Ogden State Bank v. Barker*, 12 Utah 13, 40 P. 765 (1895). The *Enright* decision, by a divided court, held that while return of an execution *nulla bona* may (in support of allegations not present in the instant case) constitute evidence of the debtor's insolvency during a period *subsequent* to that return, it does not hold such return to be either inference or proper evidence of insolvency *prior* to the unsatisfied return of execution.

In *Enright* the court considered a judgment entered upon default and failure of the defendant to file an answer. The court clearly indicated that a return of an execution *nulla bona* constituted evidence of the debtor's insolvency only when in substantiation of the "allegation that the plaintiffs know of no property upon which an execution can be levied, and that the judgments must remain wholly unsatisfied, unless they can resort to equity." (15 P. at 271, 272). Observing that it was considering only the sufficiency of the pleading as the basis for a default judgment, the court observed "When it comes to the proof

[of the debtor's insolvency], it may be difficult to establish, but we are dealing with it now as a pleading, and not as to what would constitute sufficient proof. . . " (15 P. at 272). Plaintiff's complaint lacks any allegation that plaintiff knows of no other property belonging to the judgment debtors from which the deficiency judgments can be satisfied; consequently, the *Enright* decision is not proper precedent in the present case where plaintiff not only knew of substantial other property owned by the judgment debtors, but had already caused the court to enjoin the judgment debtors from disposing of such other property.

In deciding the *Barker* case the court apparently believed it was merely following the *Enright* decision, but if the *Barker* case stands for the proposition relied upon by plaintiff, it goes beyond the holding in *Enright* with respect to permitting use of an execution returned unsatisfied as evidence of insolvency *preceding* the return on execution. This ruling is at variance with the strong weight of authority in other jurisdictions as cited above, the consequences thereof seem not to have been fully explored by the court, and such interpretation of the case should not be followed. If the *Barker* case supports the position relied upon by plaintiff, it should be overruled for the reason that a return of service unsatisfied in one county should not conclusively bar the judgment debtor from proving his solvency and showing the existence of other assets in adjoining counties or nearby areas where the judgment creditor can conveniently obtain jurisdiction, nor should a judgment debtor be conclusively prevented from showing the existence of other assets which

the Sheriff may have overlooked or disregarded in returning the execution unsatisfied.

The *Barker* ruling should further be distinguished on the grounds that (1) it was decided prior to adoption of the UFCA in Utah, (2) the prime effect of showing return of execution unsatisfied at that time was *procedural* in order to establish that a judgment creditor had exhausted his legal remedies and was now entitled to equitable relief, whereas setting aside a fraudulent conveyance under the UFCA is now a statutory legal proceeding for which proof of exhaustion of legal remedies is no longer prerequisite, and (3) the legislative intent underlying enactment of the UFCA requires that proof be furnished of the elements of action set forth in its various provisions, while the former procedural presumption of insolvency arising upon merely showing return of execution unsatisfied does not create a presumption of substantive insolvency as required under the UFCA.

The ruling in the *Barker* case is further inapplicable in the present action because plaintiff is estopped from asserting a presumption of insolvency based upon return of execution *nulla bona* because of (a) its failure to plead and prove that it had no knowledge of other properties from which the deficiency judgments could be satisfied, (b) its own evidence of the existence of such other properties, and (c) its prior conduct in thwarting the success of the executions upon which it relies for such presumption. Plaintiff entered into evidence a copy of its complaint in the officer and director liability action (Exhibit

P11) together with a copy of the preliminary injunction entered by the court in that action on July 11, 1968 (Exhibit P12) restraining defendants from conveying their properties. Attached to that complaint as Exhibit "A" is a 12-page, single-spaced, legal size, typewritten description of 561 separate parcels of real property acknowledged by plaintiff to be owned by these and other defendants and on which plaintiff had also filed *lis pendens* notices. Filing the complaint in the officer and director liability action, recording the *lis pendens* notices, and obtaining entry of the temporary injunction with respect to the numerous properties all preceded return of service unsatisfied herein. (See Exhibit "A" to this brief).

Plaintiff failed to plead the lack of properties from which the deficiency judgments could be satisfied because it well knew that defendants herein owned extensive properties having substantial value, and the only reason the executions were returned unsatisfied was because plaintiff's own *lis pendens* and injunction shielded all assets of these defendants from such subsequent execution. Under these circumstances it would be an utmost incongruity and injustice to permit the plaintiff to assert these unsatisfied executions as any level of evidence of insolvency of the defendants. Rather, plaintiff's own evidence before the court showing that defendants have substantial assets which are already secured to plaintiff's purposes under injunction has only strengthened the presumption of defendants' solvency.

3. *No presumption of fraudulent conveyance arose from relationship of the parties to shift the burden of proof to defendants.*

Plaintiff asserts that by showing the individual grantors were close relatives of the grantees, plaintiff was relieved of its burden of proving fraud and there was thereby imposed upon defendants a burden of proving that no fraud existed. It should first be observed that when plaintiff rested its case no evidence had been introduced showing any relationship between the personal defendants and the corporate defendants, and no family relationship can exist between the personal grantees and the corporate grantors; hence, if the position had any merit it would be confined in application only to conveyances by the individual grantors. More important, however, is that no such presumption arises even with respect to the personal defendants without the existence of other factors not before the court in this action when the plaintiff rested its case.

While a close family relationship is just cause for special scrutiny, such relationship alone is insufficient to create a legal presumption of fraud which shifts the burden of proof. In *Givan v. Lambert*, 10 Utah 2d 287, 351 P.2d 959 (1960) the Utah Supreme Court upheld the conveyances by a father to his children against attack by judgment creditors, stating:

It is elementary that the love and affection a father has for his children is sufficient consideration to support a conveyance, absent fraud. (351 P.2d at 963).

After discussing the early English rule that intra-family transactions be subjected to careful examination for evidences of fraud, the court further stated:

Human nature doesn't seem to have changed very much and we still take for granted that transactions between close relatives under circumstances of this kind are to be closely scrutinized when attacked by creditors of the grantor. However, *the mere fact that the transaction is among close relatives does not necessarily mean that it is invalid*, but the true facts are subject to proof. (351 P.2d at 962, emphasis added).

In *Ned J. Bowman Co. v. White*, 13 Utah 2d 173, 369 P.2d 962 (1962), the court rejected an attack by judgment creditors and upheld the validity of a mortgage given by a father to his son, stating:

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