1970

W. Smoot Brimhall, Commissioner Of Financial Institutions of the State of Utah v. D. Spencer Grow; Arta L. Grow; Steven L. Grow; First Fidelity Thrift And Low Association; Western Land Corporation; Grow Investment And Mortgage Company, Town And Country Real Estate Company : Respondent's Brief

ARGUMENT

I. DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS PROPERLY DENIED BY THE COURT.

With respect to the defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, at transcript page 40, line 28, the court's attention is called to Rule 56 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure dealing with summary judgment and the requirements set forth in that rule. The record is devoid of any notice having been served on the plaintiff or of any other requirement of Rule 56 having been met

by the defendants prior to the motion for such judgment. Consequently, the motion was not well taken and was properly denied by the Court.

A. Plaintiff offered evidence as well as stipulations to substantiate and support the allegations of its complaint. The defendants stated that no evidence was introduced, prior to resting of the defendants' case, which showed any relationship between the personal defendants and the corporate defendants. [I.A.(1)] The defendants overlook the fact that in their answer in paragraph number 1, they acknowledge that the defendant corporations were managed and controlled by D. Spencer Grow and Arta L. Grow. They further ignore the evidence adduced at trial that D. Spencer Grow and Arta L. Grow owned the controlling interest of those corporations.

The defendants further state that the financial condition of the grantors at the time of the subject conveyances was not shown. [I.A.(2)] The record reflects numerous unsatisfied executions returned against the corporate defendants herein.

The defendants allege that no evidence was offered by the plaintiff showing the circumstances by which the properties in question were acquired by the defendants. [I.A.(3)] The record reflects numerous statements made by the witness David S. Grow, Jr. setting forth the fact that monies were borrowed from Utah Savings and Loan Association by the defendant corporations

with the approval of D. Spencer Grow, acting as the manager and controlling director of the Association.

The defendants contend that the conveyances were not voluntary, but were made in exchange for valuable consideration. [I.A. (4)] The record reeks with evidence and testimony pertaining to the lack of valuable consideration. With respect to Exhibit number 8, the Martinez home, no money and no property were conveyed by the defendant Steven Grow. See page 55, transcript, line 21. The witness David Grow testified concerning the Martinez property on page 59 of the transcript and there is no recital of any consideration having been paid by Steven to the grantor. With respect to Exhibit 5, it is admitted that no consideration was paid. It appears at page 65 of the transcript where Mr. Poelman questioned David Grow with the following question and answer:

Question: Do I understand there was no consideration paid by Steven for this transfer, it was transferred only to him for development?

Answer: Yes.

It was further admitted by the witness David S. Grow, Jr. at pp. 71-72 of the transcript that plaintiff's exhibits 1, 2, 6 and 7 were gifts by D. Spencer Grow and Arta L. Grow to Steven Grow.

The defendants represent to the court that no evidence was offered by the plaintiff in support of the allegations that actual fraudulent intent was involved or that Steven L. Grow had knowledge with respect to

matters covered by this action. [I.A.(5)] The record shows that Steven Grow was indebted to Western Land Corporation in 1966 in the amount of \$220.00; to Town and Country Real Estate Company in the amount of \$90.00; to First Fidelity Thrift and Loan in the amount of \$500.00; and to Grow Investment and Mortgage Company in the amount of \$1,322.00. Furthermore it appears at page 156 of the transcript that Steven L. Grow, in response to questions from Mr. Young, stated the following:

Question: 1966. Did you know at that time that all of these mortgages were delinquent that were owed by your father's corporation?

Answer: Mr. Young, I had an understanding. I think I realized that there were delinquencies on the part of some companies to Utah Savings and Loan Association.

On page 155 of the transcript, line 18, Mr. Young questioned Steven L. Grow with the following questions and answers:

Answer: I paid \$2,300.00 cash to Utah Savings and Loan Association to bring that mortgage current. I paid \$730.00 to the County Recorder to bring taxes current. I also paid an assessment for sewer to Provo City in a certain amount.

Question: Where did you get the \$2,300.00?

Answer: Just from my personal funds.

Question: How did that money find its way into your personal funds?

Answer: This is money which I borrowed.

Question: From?

Answer: I borrowed this from Valley National Builders.

Question: Valley National Builders? Do you know if that corporation is indebted to Utah Savings and Loan?

Answer: Yes?

Question: Indebted in approximately \$600,000.00 to Utah Savings and Loan?

Answer: I believe that's right.

B. UNDER THE UNIFORM FRAUDULENT CONVEYANCE ACT, SECTION 25-1-16, UCA 1953 AS AMENDED, A REMEDY IS PROVIDED WHEREBY A CREDITOR WITH AN UNMATURED CLAIM CAN SEEK TO SET ASIDE A CONVEYANCE WHICH IS FRAUDULENT AS AGAINST HIM.

The Uniform Fraudulent Conveyance Act is applicable to all defendants, corporate or individual. Under our statute and in most jurisdictions where such cases have been heard, the right is afforded a tort claimant whose claim has not matured to judgment to attack conveyances as being fraudulent. 73 A.L.R.2d 749. Reference is made to the State of Arizona and its highest court's ruling under the fraudulent conveyance statute wherein the court in *Babcock vs. Tam*, 156 F.2d 116, in recognizing the statute referred to above, held that a tort claimant may attack a conveyance in fraud of creditors prior to the entry of judgment since such right is grant-

ed him by the statute against fraudulent conveyances. One having a claim in tort is a creditor from the moment the claim arises and has a right to attack a fraudulent conveyance prior to judgment. The appellants contend that the plaintiff is required to prove actual intent to defraud before the fraudulent conveyance statute is applicable. Section 25-1-4, UCA 1953 as amended deals with conveyances by insolvents. That statute states that every obligation incurred by a person who is insolvent or who may be rendered insolvent by the conveyance is fraudulent without regard to the actual intent on the part of the individual, if the conveyance is made without a fair consideration. The record is clear, as will be shown, that fair consideration was not received nor was one paid for the conveyance of the properties in question. Plaintiff can thereby rely on a shift of the burden of proof by way of presumption of fraud from the circumstances surrounding the conveyance of the properties.

The court's attention is drawn to the fact that every obligation incurred by the corporate defendants predated the conveyances in question even though the judgments referred to in the transcript postdated the conveyances. The appellants contend that there is no evidence relating to the assets or liabilities of the individual grantors at the time of the conveyances. The question then becomes whether D. Spencer Grow and Arta L. Grow were insolvent on March 11 and March 20, 1967.

It is plaintiff's view that plaintiff is entitled to the presumption, and in this case it is a presumption, that an

obligor will pay a lawfully obligated debt if such payment is within his power. Generally the presumption is, in the absence of any showing to the contrary, that a debt lawfully due and not paid is not paid because of the inability of the debtor to pay the debt.

The appellants attempt to distinguish *Enright vs. Grant*, 4 Utah 334, 15 P. 268 (1887) and *Ogden State Bank v. Baker*, 12 Utah 13, 40 P. 765 (1895) on the basis that a return of execution *nulla bona* may show evidence of insolvency of a debtor subsequent to the return, but no inference or evidence of the insolvency prior to the unsatisfied return. Also, the appellants state that the two cases require that the plaintiff prove that the defendants had no other properties belonging to them which could be used to satisfy the deficiency judgments.

The appellants argue that the defendants were prevented from paying the deficiency judgments by civil no. 181,123 in the District Court of Salt Lake County. Furthermore, the plaintiff is forbidden to invoke the doctrine of executions returned *nulla bona* because he has knowledge of the fact that the defendants have other properties which can be used to satisfy the outstanding judgments. The trouble with this argument is that every deficiency judgment against the defendants was entered prior to the issuance of the preliminary injunction in the Salt Lake County case. Those deficiency judgments comprise part of the evidence upon which the preliminary injunction was based in civil case no. 30,027. The argument of appellant's counsel and of appellants that

the appellants were prevented from satisfying these judgments by the existence of the preliminary injunction must be regarded as facetious and not made in good faith.

There is not one action involving a deficiency judgment referred to by the appellants which was not filed months before May 17, 1968, the date of the filing of the *Lis Pendens* in civil action no. 32,027.

The existence of the judgments against the grantor corporations and the existence of the claims against the grantor individuals certainly justify the setting aside of the conveyances and the reestablishment of the title in the names of the grantors so as to make the property subject to the lawful claims of the grantors' creditors.

Times have not changed the felling of the courts in dealing with conveyances between members of families, for the Supreme Court of this state still abides by the common law rule that transactions between near relatives are subject to rigid scrutiny when under attack by creditors of the grantor. *Givan vs. Lambeth*, 10 U.2d 287, 351 P.2d 959 (1960); *Lund vs. Howell*, 92 Utah 232, 67 P.2d 215; *Paxton vs. Paxton*, 80 Utah 540, 15 P.2d 1051.

In *Ned J. Bowman Co. vs. White*, 13 U.2d 173, 369 P.2d 1962, the Utah court again made reference to the general rule of subjecting conveyances between close relatives to rigid scrutiny and went on to state that the facts surrounding each transaction determine whether it is a fraudulent conveyance.

The relationship which existed between Steven L. Grow and the defendants D. Spencer Grow and Arta L. Grow and the defendant corporations created a condition of suspicion respecting the conveyances involved. These circumstances, coupled with the prior information as to the grantors' heavy indebtedness and obligations, is sufficient to hold that the conveyances involved herein were fraudulent. Furthermore, the respondent contended in the lower court and the court found that the obligations of the defendant corporations were in law the obligations of D. Spencer Grow. The lower court found that the corporate defendants were the alter ego of the defendant D. Spencer Grow. The record in this case clearly shows that D. Spencer Grow and the corporations controlled by him owned all of the permanent guarantee stock in the Utah Savings and Loan Association. The record also shows that ownership of permanent guarantee stock in the amount of 1,000 shares is necessary in order to become an officer of Utah Savings and Loan Association. The record is very clear that each and every evidence of indebtedness executed by the various corporations to Utah Savings and Loan Association were executed by D. Spencer Grow and Arta L. Grow. Thus, the owner of all of the stock necessary to be an officer of Utah Savings and Loan Association was the same person who was the president and controlling and managing agent of all the corporate defendants.

The obligations of the defaulting debtor corporations being, in law, the obligations of D. Spencer Grow, and being unpaid, certainly evidence the fact that the

defendants cannot pay their debts and are therefore insolvent.

11. In *Neal vs. Clark*, 251 P.2d 903, 906 (Ariz. 1952), the Arizona court made reference to fair and valuable consideration in dealing with a fraudulent conveyance case. The court stated that a fair and valuable consideration cannot be determined by a comparison of the things sold or the price received by the grantor. Rather, all circumstances are to be considered in arriving at a "reasonable and fair proportion between the one and the other." Therefore, the mere presence of a consideration clause in a deed is not evidence that the deed was founded on fair and valuable consideration or any consideration at all, and a deed made for a nominal consideration is nothing more than a voluntary conveyance without consideration. *Ogden State Bank vs. Baker*, 12 Utah 13, 40 P. 765 (1895).

CONCLUSION

Unquestionably the record shows that the corporate defendants were insolvent. Equally certain is the fact that no fair consideration was received by the grantors.

The record fully justifies the court in holding D. Spencer Grow and Arta L. Grow personally liable for the judgments of the defendant corporations. Clearly

the court was correct in making the assets of D. Spencer Grow and Arta L. Grow and the defendant corporations available to the Association for the benefit of the defrauded savers.